

Until MultiUser

untis.com

Contents

I	Introduction	5
II	Technical background	6
III	Installation	7
1	Installation of Untis application	7
2	Setting up ODBC connections	7
	Microsoft Access database	8
	MySQL database	13
	64-bit operating systems	15 15
	Setting up ODBC via command line	16
IV	Untis MultiUser - first-time launch	17
1	Importing data from a .gpn file	17
2	Verwendung älterer Versionen verhindern	19
3	Logfile	21
4	The login dialogue	21
V	User administration	24
1	Changing passwords	25
2	User groups and user rights	27
	Levels of rights	
	Rights	32
3	Creating users	37
4	'Active users' dialogue	40
	Logging out other users	40
5	Working simultaneously	41
	Changing the same data simultaneously Data consistency	41 42
VI	Private / public views	43
1	Private copies of public views	44
2	Marking views "Public"	45
3	Saving to .gpn files	46
VII	Shared resources	47
1	Creating external elements	47
2	Working simultaneously	49

-		
3	Clashes with external elements	52
4	Cover planning	54
5	General settings for external elements	55
6	External elements: Owner	57
VIII	Working with departments	58
1	Simultaneous optimisation of departments	58
2	Departmental generation of timetables	58
3	Affiliation with departments	60
IX	Cover planning	62
1	Working simultaneously in cover planning	62
2	Cover planning across departments	62
3	Cover planning and timetable planning	62
4	Room planning and cover planning	63
5	Last change of substitution	65
Χ	Data security	65
1	Protection against unauthorised access	65
2	Backups	67
M	Magagagagaga	60
XI	message system	00
XI 1	Sending messages	00 68
XI 1 2	Message system Sending messages Managing messages	00 68 70
XI 1 2 3	Message system Sending messages Managing messages Deleting messages.	68 68 70 71
XI 1 2 3 4	Message system Sending messages Managing messages Deleting messages Refresh	68 70 71 71
XI 1 2 3 4 XII	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions	68 68 70 71 71 71
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive.	68 68 70 71 71 71 71
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement.	68 68 70 71 71 71 71
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode.	68 68 70 71 71 71 72 72
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login.	68 68 71 71 71 71 72 72 73
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year.	68 68 70 71 71 71 72 72 73 74
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login.	68 68 70 71 71 71 72 72 73 74 75
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login. Variable name of the ODBC connection.	68 68 70 71 71 71 71 72 72 73 74 75 75
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Message system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login. Variable name of the ODBC connection. My SQL database.	60 68 70 71 71 71 72 72 73 73 75 75 75
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Message system Sending messages. Deleting messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login. Variable name of the ODBC connection. My SQL database. Support.	60 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 72 71 72 72 73 75 75 75
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 XIII	Wessage system Sending messages. Deleting messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login. Variable name of the ODBC connection. My SQL database. Support. Database and .gpn file	68 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 72 72 72 73 74 75 75 75 77 78
XI 1 2 3 4 XII 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 XIII 1	Wessage system Sending messages. Managing messages. Deleting messages. Refresh. Other functions Automatic log out when inactive. Window arrangement. Untis in info mode. Automatic login. Creating a new school year. Simultaneous login. Variable name of the ODBC connection. My SQL database. Support. Database and .gpn file Export data to a .gpn file	60 68 70 71 71 71 71 71 71 71 72 72 73 75 75 75 75 75 75 77 78

3	Merging data from .gpn files	
	Merging timetables	
	Merging cover planning data	
	Changing terms	
	Index	84

1 Introduction

In larger schools it is common for more than one person to work on the timetable and on the cover plan.. Moreover, some schools, especially vocational schools or higher vocational schools, are divided into departments with the timetable of each department being prepared by one or more persons.

It is not possible for more than one person to work simultaneously using .gpn files as only one user at a time is allowed write-access. This results in the risk of unnecessary delays or even errors while exchanging .gpn files when the latest .gpn file is not passed on.

This type of error cannot occur with Untis MultiUser since it allows several users to work on the same data simultaneously. This is made possible as the data are stored in a single database.



This results in a number of advantages:

- Data input (master data, lessons etc.) can be carried out by more than one person at the same time.
- Master data can be administered in the school office for example e-mail addresses can be added or phone numbers corrected – while the scheduler(s) work(s) on the timetable.
- Untis MultiUser has a hierarchical system of authorisation. This can be set up in such a way that e.g. users in the school office are only authorised to view timetables but never to change them, minimising accidental errors. You decide which users groups have which rights.
- Departments can create their own timetables independently of each other while departmental data remain fully integrated within the date of the entire school data. This makes it easier to schedule resources that are used in more than one department (e.g. teachers or rooms), and statistics relating to the whole school can be generate without any difficulty.
- If neighbouring schools share common resources such as shared rooms or teachers, this data can be linked in such a way via so-called *external elements* that all schedulers can always see the current scheduling status of these shared resources and include them accordingly in their scheduling.
- Work with the Cover planning module is made significantly more flexible. for example, reasons of absence can be entered by the school office independent of the scheduler planning substitutions.
- Furthermore, the scheduler can change the timetable in a new term while the substitution scheduler deals with daily substitutions in the same database. It is not necessary to import the substitution data into the new timetable any more.

2 Technical background

Untis MultiUser can run with any of the following databases: <u>MySQL</u> -, <u>MS_SQL-</u> or Microsoft <u>Access</u>. Access to the data takes place via ODBC, with data updates being performed asynchronously. Untis checks automatically every 10 seconds to see whether other users have made any modifications, in which case data will be updated. When a Microsoft Access database is used, the application itself does not need to be installed since the installation of an ODBC driver is sufficient to connect to the database.

The use of Untis MultiUser does not exclude working with .gpn files. You can store Untis MultiUser data records in a .gpn file, import from an existing .gpn file and optionally store them in the database. Please refer to chapter " Database and .gpn file " for more details.

Operation via the Internet

Untis MultiUser can be operated easily via the Internet when a <u>MySQL</u> database used. This allows several departments that are located far apart to work on the timetable at the same time. Each department has up-to-date information about the current scheduling status of resources shared with other departments.

Multi-client capability

Untis MultiUser is multi-client capable, i.e. you can use a single database to store several schools, per school several school years and per school year up to 255 different (timetable) versions. One version of one given school year of one given school corresponds to the amount of data of one .gpn file.

Database reorganisation

Database reorganisation is recommended if you are working with Microsoft Access and the speed of Untis MultiUser decreases or if the .mdb file is getting too large. This requires Microsoft Access to be installed on your computer. With Microsoft Access 2007, open your Untis database (by default 'Untis.mdb' or Untis.accdb', respectively) and click on the 'Database tools' tab and then click on the option 'Compact and repair database'.

If you use an earlier version than Access 2010 then it this process will be a little bit different.



3 Installation

The installation of Untis MultiUser takes place in two steps:

- 1. Installation of the Untis application (omitted if you are already working with the single-user version)
- 2. Installation of the database connection (MS Access, MySQL or MS SQL) as desired

These two steps are explained in detail on the following pages.

3.1 Installation of Untis application

There is no difference in the installation procedure of the single-user or multi-user version.

You can install Untis either centrally on a (Windows) server or individually on all workstations where the program is to be used. Please make sure that the central installation on a server is carried out with administrator rights. After installation start the program on the server and on all clients (PCs) - again with administrator rights - to allow the required entries to be written into the system registry.

Note:

In some cases Untis must be started once by right-clicking on Untis.exe (or on a shortcut on your desktop) and then with the command "Execute as administrator".

3.2 Setting up ODBC connections

An ODBC connection must be set up on every PC (irrespective of whether single-user or server installation) where Untis MultiUser is deployed according to the description in the following chapter. The basic steps, however, are the same.

As a first step, an empty database (i.e. a database in which no tables have been created) must be copied to a central location on a network server. You find this on our homepage: <u>https://www.untis.at/</u><u>HTML/updates.php</u>. f you want to use a different database, you will have to create this empty database yourself.

You will then have to make the appropriate entries in the ODBC Data Source Administrator in the control panel.

Note regarding ODBC Connector

Depending on the operating system and database version in use it is possible that the ODBC connection to the 32-bit connector needs to be set up. For further information please go to <u>64-bit operating system</u>.

Important information for users already working with Untis MultiUser:

The default name for the database and for the ODBC connection was 'gpUntis' up until Untis MultiUser version 2012. From Untis MultiUser version 2013 onwards, this name was changed to 'Untis', which is why all explanations and screenshots refer to this new name. You do **not** need to change this name in versions from Untis 2013 onwards if you already have an existing (and working) database with an ODBC connection.

3.2.1 Microsoft Access database

Note:

We recommend that all users who have little or no experience of administering databases to run Untis MultiUser with Microsoft Access.

Perform the following steps to use Untis MultiUser with a Microsoft Access database.

Please visit our homepage for the Untis.mdb file: <u>https://www.untis.at/HTML/updates.php</u>. Copy this file to a folder on the server to which all users have read and write access.

In the following steps we assume that Untis MultiUser has been properly installed using administrator rights on each computer where the program is to be used.

The following steps must now be performed on each of these computers:

Windows 8 and Windows 10:

1. Search via the start screen the appropriate ODBC Connector.

Suc	hen
Übera	II ~
odbo	c ein
¢,	ODBC-Datenquellen einrichten (32-Bit)
Ĝ	ODBC-Datenquellen einrichten (64-Bit)
	☞ 🗅 🔅 Filter ∨
ŵ	Höchste Übereinstimmung
ŝ	ODBC-Datenquellen (32-Bit) Desktop-App
2	Apps
	ODBC-Datenquellen (64-Bit)
	Einstellungen
	ODBC-Datenquellen einrichten (32-Bit)
	ODBC-Datenquellen einrichten (64-Bit)
	odbc

- 2. Select the required ODBC Connector.
- 3. Now continue with item 4 of older Windows versions.

older Windows versions:

1. Open the control panel of the computer.

	The second second
Microsoft Visual C# 2010 Express	
🧊 Paint 🔸	
OpenOffice.org 3.3	Win7Eng
Untis 2012	Documents
Data Sources (ODBC)	Pictures
	Music
Getting Started	Games
Untis.exe - Raccourci FR	Computer
🧒 Windows Media Center	Control Panel
Calculator	Devices and Printers
Vicky Notes	Default Programs
All Programs	Help and Support
Search programs and files	Shut down 🕨

2. Double-click on item 'Administration' to open it. Depending on your Windows settings, you may also find this item under system and maintenance.



- 3. Double-click on item "Data Source (ODBC)".
- 4. A dialogue appears in which all created data sources are listed. We now want to add the data source for Untis. To this end, click on the <Add> button.

If the ODBC connection is to be created only for the currently active Windows user, use the "User DSN" tab. If you wish to create the ODBC connection for all users, use the "System DSN" tab.

a odbc d	ata Source Administrator
User DSN	System DSN File DSN Drivers Tracing Connection Pooling About
System D	ata Sources:
Name	Driver Add
	Remove
	Configure
	An ODBC System data source stores information about how to connect to the indicated data provider. A System data source is visible to all users on this machine, including NT services.
L	OK Cancel Apply Help

5. Select "Microsoft Access driver (*.mdb)" from the list of drivers presented and click on <Finish>. In case the driver is not listed, you can download it from the Microsoft website (search for "MDAC").

Create New Data Source		×
Create New Data Source	Select a driver for which you want to set up a data Name Driver do Microsoft Excel(*xls) Driver do Microsoft Paradox (*.db) Driver para o Microsoft Visual EoxPro Microsoft Access Driver (*.db) Microsoft dBase Driver (*.dbf) Microsoft dBase VFP Driver (*.dbf)	Source.
	< Back Finish	Cancel

6. A dialogue appears in which you can specify the database to which it is to be connected to and which name it should have. The data source name must be "Untis" unless defined otherwise in the corresponding settings in Untis. If you want to read more about the ODBC names go to chapter <u>Variable name of the ODBC connection</u>. You can use the <Select> button to specify the path that leads to the Untis.mdb file on the server.

ODBC Microsoft A	ccess Setup			×
Datenquellenname	Untis		OK	
Beschreibung:			Abbrook	
Datenbank			Abbrech	
Datenbank:				
Auswählen	Erstellen Reparieren	Komprimier P D	Pfadangab)atei Untis	e zur .mdb
Systemdatenbank	Datenbank auswählen			×
() Kaina	Datenbankname	Verzeichnisse:		OK
Neine	Untis.mdb	c:\\system32		Abbrechen
O Datenbank:	jf.mdb		^	1.0010011011
		Province Street	2	Hilfe
		0409 C Advancedl	installe	Schreibgeschützt
	Dateityp: Access-Datenbanken (* ~	Laufwerke:	~	Netzwerk

7. Confirm all dialogues with <OK>. Installation is now completed.

Warning: If you are working with a 64-bit operating system, please read the chapter of the same name.

You can now skip to item Launching Untis MultiUser for the first time.

3.2.2 MySQL database

If you wish to run Untis MultiUser with a MySQL database, you must first create an empty database (without tables) called *Untis* using a suitable database administration tool.



Now create a new ODBC data source called 'Untis' via 'Control panel | Administration | Data Sources (ODBC)'. (See chapter <u>Microsoft Access database</u> .)

Systemdatenqueller: Name Plattform Treiber Units 32-Bit MySQL ODBC 5.3 ANSI Driver Bintfernen Weie Datenquelle erstellen Wighten Sie einen Treiber aus, für den Sie einen Datenquelle erstellen möchten. Name WySQL Connector/ODBC Data Source Configuration WySQL Connector/ODBC Data Source Configuration WySQL Connector/ODBC Connector/ODBC Connector/ODBC Connector/ODBC Connector /ODBC Connector /ODBC Connector / ODBC Connector /	System-DSN System-DS	N Datei-DSN Treiber Ablaufve	erfolgung Verbindun	gspooling Info		
Name Plattform Treiber Units 32-Bit MySQL ODBC 5.3 ANSI Driver Entfemen Konforment Weide Neue Datenquelle erstellen Weide Wahlen Sie einen Treiber aus, für den Steeine Datenquelle erstellen WySQL Connector/ODBC Data Source Configuration Name MySQL Connector/ODBC Data Source Name: Units Units Units Description: Units MySQL Datenbank © TCP/IP Server: localhost Port: 3306 Viser: root root User: root root Database: Units Test	Systemdatenquellen:					
Neue Datenquelle erstellen Wählen Sie einen Treiber aus, für den Sielerne Datenquellerstellen möchten. Name Murssoft Paradox Driver (*.db.) MySQL ODBC 5.3 ANSI Driver MySQL Datenbank Image:	Name Plattform Treib Untis 32-Bit MySt	er ≩L ODBC 5.3 ANSI Driver		Hinzufi	igen	
MySQL Connector/ODBC Data Source Configuration			Neue Datenqu	uelle erstellen V	Vählen Sie einen Treiber aus rstellen möchten.	s, für den Sie eine Datenquelle
Data Source Name: Untis Description: Untis MySQL Datenbank Image: Comparison: Untis MySQL Datenbank Image: Comparison: Image: Comparison: Image: Comparison: Image: Comp	MySQL Connector/ODB	C Data Source Configuration	, ,	▲ ↓ ↓	Name Microsoft Paradox Driver (*., Microsoft Paradox-Treiber (*. Microsoft Text Driver (*.txt; Microsoft Text-Treiber (*.txt; MySQL ODBC 5.3 ANSI Dri MySQL ODBC 5.3 Unicode SQL Server	db) 1 cdb) 1 ccs 1 ver 5 Driver 5 1
Description: Untis MySQL Datenbank	Data Source Name	Untis			<	>
 TCP/IP Server: Iocalhost Port: 3306 Zurück Fertig stellen Abbreche Abbreche Password: Post: Test 	Description:	Untis MySQL Datenbank		and a second		
User: root Password: ••••• Database: Untis ~ Test	TCP/IP Server Named Pipe	localhost Por	t: 3306		< Zurück	Fertig stellen Abbrecher
Password: ••••• Database: Untis ~ Test	User	root				//
Database: Untis V Test		••••				
	Password					

If no MySQL driver is listed in the control panel, you must first download it from the Internet (from e.g.

www.mysql.com).

Warning:

Untis MultiUser requires MySQL driver version 5.1.8 or higher.

You can now skip to item Launching Untis MultiUser for the first time.

3.2.3 MS SQL database

In addition to the databases already described, Untis MultiUser also offers the possibility to work with MS SQL. The sequence of installation is in principle the same as for Microsoft Access and MySQL.

1. First create an empty MS SQL database (without any tables) called, for instance, *Untis* using a suitable database administration tool.

2. Now create a new ODBC data source called 'Untis' via 'Control panel | Administration | Data sources (ODBC)'. (See chapter Microsoft Access database .)

Benutzer-DSN Systemdatenqu Name Plattf	nquellen-Administrator (32-Bit) System-DSN Datei-DSN Treiber Ablaufver rellen: iom Treiber	folgung Verbindungspooling li	rfo		
		Neue Datenquelle erstellen	Wählen Sie einen Treiber aus, für den Sie ein erstellen möchten.	He Datenquelle	
Neue Datenquelle für SC	2L Server erstellen Dieser Assistent ist Ihnen beim Erstellen einer behilflich, anhand derer Sie sich mit einem SQ Welchen Namen möchten Sie verwenden, un verweisen? Name: Untis Wie möchten Sie die Datenquelle beschreiber Beschreibung: [Mit welchem SQL Server möchten Sie sich ve Server:	X ODBC-Datenquelle L Server verbinden können. n auf die Datenquelle zu n? vrbinden?	Microsoft Paradox Driver (*.db.) Microsoft Paradox-Treiber (*.db.) Microsoft Text Driver (*.txt; *.csv) Microsoft Text-Treiber (*.txt; *.csv) MySQL ODBC 5.3 ANSI Driver MySQL ODBC 5.3 Unicode Driver SQL Server <	1 1 1 1 5 5 1 V S	
	Fetig stellen	ODBC-Datenquelle Benutzer-DSN System Systemdatenquellen: Name Platfom Units 32-Bit S	en-Administrator (32-Bit) -DSN Datei-DSN Treiber Ablaufverfolgun reiber IQL Server	g Verbindungspooling Info Hinzufügen Entfernen Konfigurieren	×

3.2.4 64-bit operating systems

64 bit operating systems

Important information for users with 64-bit operating systems You can install the 32-bit versions of the required drivers via the 32-bit ODBC data source administrator. To this end, execute the file ' odbcad32.exe ' in directory %SystemRoot%\SysWOW64 (for example under Windows 7 'C:\Windows\SysWOW64\ '). If you cannot find the driver you are looking for in the ODBC source administration application opened via the control panel, execute the 32-bit version as described above.

3.2.5 Setting up ODBC via command line

When installing software on several clients, automatic configuration steps are usually preferred. From the 2016 version onwards, you can also specify additional parameters such as destination directory, silent mode and data for setting up the ODBC connections when the installation is done via command line.

Target directory

The switch for the target directory reads /D. The installation file must always be the last parameter and must not stand between inverted commas, not even if there are spaces.

Example: SetupUntis2019.exe /D=C:\Untis

Silent Installation

The installation can be performed via the command line in silent mode. Use option /S.

Example: SetupUntis2019.exe /S

Automatic set-up of ODBC connection

You can initiate the automatic set-up of the ODBC connection (user DSN) via the command line. You can choose between three parameters.

/odbcdriver

Name of the ODBC driver (obligatory). This is the name which is visible in the column 'driver' in the ODBC Data Source Administrator (e.g. 'Microsoft Access Driver (*.mdb, *.accdb)'. Please note that (e.g. for MySQL) the driver needs to already be installed and that the 32-bit version is required in most cases (see chapter <u>*64-bit operating system</u>).

• /odbcparams:

Additional parameters for the ODBC connection such as path of the mdb file or unser name, password, server or database for MySQL/MS-SQL. These parameters are specified the following 'key1=value1;key2=value2;...', whereby keys and values depend on the producer of the database. In the following we list examples for the most widely used parameters.

/odbcname:

Optional name for die ODBC connection. If no name has been specified, then an ODBC connection called 'Untis' will be created.

Examples

Access: SetupUntis2109.exe /S /odbcdriver='Microsoft Access Driver (*.mdb, *.accdb)' / odbcparams='DBQ=C:\DB\Untis.mdb'

Creates an ODBC connection which directs to the file C:\DB\Untis.mdb

• MySQL: SetupUntis2019.exe /S /odbcdriver='MySQL ODBC 5.1 Driver' / odbcparams='SERVER=127.0.0.1;DATABASE=Untis;UID=dbuser;PWD=passwd;PORT=3306'

Creates an ODBC connection accessing the server 127.0.0.1 via the port 3306, database name 'Untis', user 'dbuser' and password 'passwd'.

 MSSQL:< SetupUntis2019.exe /S /odbcdriver='SQL Server' / odbcparams='SERVER=SERVERNAME\MSSQL;DATABASE=Untis;UID=dbuser;PWD=passwd'

Creates and ODBC connection accessing the server 'SERVERNAME\MSSQL', database name 'Untis', user 'dbuser' and password 'passwd'.

4 Untis MultiUser - first-time launch

There are basically two possibilities when launching Untis MultiUser for the first time:

- 1. You have not previously worked with Untis and are thus starting with an empty data set. In this case, skip to chapter The login dialogue.
- 2. You already have an Untis data set as a .gpn file and now wish to transfer this into your (empty) database. In this case, continue with the following chapter Importing data from a .gpn file .

4.1 Importing data from a .gpn file

If you already have data in a .gpn file that you wish to transfer to an Untis MultiUser database, launch Untis MultiUser and load your .gpn file as usual. (In general, this file will even load automatically.)

Now enter your new Untis MultiUser licence data. Save the .gpn file and select 'File | Store in database'.



Now the login dialogue is shown which is described in the following chapter.

Note:

If you are using an MS SQL database with a DB user that does not match an NT profile and thus requires authentication, you will first have to enter this in the settings ('Modules | MultiUser | Settings'). This entry is safed locally per user per PC.



General MultiUser settin	gs		×			
▲ MultiUser			⊳			
ODBC Connection		Keep a log-file				
Untis	Name (default="Untis")	Log-File C:\Users\Praktikant\AppData				
MS SQL Server						
SQL_USER	ODBC Usemame	Timeout due to inactivity				
•••••	ODBC Password	No timeout				
External elements		The second second second				
Do not show the so external elements	chool-ID in the timetable of					
Read external elements without lessons only on login						
✓ Flag externally scheduled lessons with an icon						
Permit access with older Untis versions.						
	OK Cancel					

4.2 Verwendung älterer Versionen verhindern

Prevent use of older versionsWhen you login to the new Untis version into the existing MultiUser database for the first time, the tables will be converted to the new version. So far this has been done automatically. As of Untis MultiUser 2018 you will explicitly be informed that you need a confirmation of the administrator.

Warning X					
You are trying to acce	s the database with a new program version.				
Previous version	Untis MultiUser 2014				
Current version	Untis MultiUser 2019				
administrator. The users will no long as these changes hav	be able to access the database with older Untis versions, as soon been made.				
Administrator	User				
	Password				
	OK Cancel				

This message informs you that access to older program versions will not be possible any more by default. If nevertheless you want to permit access to older versions, please check the box: 'Permit access to older Untis versions' in the MultiUser settings.

General MultiUser settings		×
d MultiUser		⊳
ODBC Connection Untis Name (de	fault="Untis")	<u>K</u> eep a log-file Log-File C:\Users\Praktikant\AppData
MS SQL Server	tername assword the timetable of t lessons only on ans with an icon rsions.	Timeout due to inactivity No timeout
	ок с	ancel

Note:

We recommend, though, to **not** activate this function. If you use different Untis versions in the same database, data can be lost.

4.3 Logfile

If error messages may occur while operating the database of the 2019 version, they are written in a log file. Go to 'Settings | MultiUser' to define the path of this log file.

Settings		×
 School data General Overview Values Miscellaneous Substitution Planning Course Scheduling MultiUser 	ODBC Connection Untis Name (default="Untis") MS SQL Server ODBC Username ODBC Password External elements Do not show the school-ID in the timetable of external elements Read external elements without lessons only on login ✓ Flag externally scheduled lessons with an icon Permit access with older Untis versions.	Keep a logfile Log-File C:\Users\Praktikant\AppData Imeour que to inactivity No timeout Imeour que to inactivity No timeout
Italic = locally stored settings (.ini files)		OK Cancel

4.4 The login dialogue

When you launch Untis MultiUser for the first time and have not transferred any data from a .gpn file, you can access the Login dialogue via menu item "File |Login". (If you wish to import data from an existing .gpn file, you will have opened this dialogue <u>as described in the previous chapter</u> via 'Modules | MultiUser | Store in database'.)

When you start the login dialogue for the first time it will look as follows:

Untis Database / Import school data						
School number:						
· · · · ·	New	Manage school(s)				
Text:						
School year:						
•	New	Manage school years				
Text:						
Version:						
-	New	Manage versions				
Text:						
User:						
Administrator 👻						
Password:		Change password				
		OK Cancel				

Since logging in is only possible if you have chosen a school, a school year and a version, the first step is to define this basic data.

The default setting is user "Administrator" of the user group of the same name (no password set). This user group has all rights that can be assigned.

Creating a new school

To create a new school, click on the <New> button in section "School number" in the login dialogue.

Create school							
The school ID must not exceed 9 characters							
1	School number						
1	School ID						
Manual school 1	Text (max. 50 of charact)						
	OK Cancel						

The school number in the database must be unique, i.e. it is not possible to give two schools the number

1. You can also enter text in the input field "School number" as long as it contains a unique combination of numbers and does not exceed 50 characters (e.g. Hogwarts1). You can enter any text in the input field "Text".

Creating a new school year

You can save as many school years per created school as you wish. To create a new school year click on the <New> button in section "School year" in the login dialogue. You can add supplemental text in the *Text* field here as well.

Create school year		×
e.g.: 2015/2016		
2018/2019	School year	
20182019	School year ID	
School year 2018/20	Text (max. 50 of	charact)
[ОК	Cancel

The format of the school year should be [year1]/[year2]. Untis makes a suggestion depending on the school year of the .gpn file that you are currently working with. If there is no .gpn file loaded, the suggestion will be based on the system date

Creating a new version

You can store up to 255 different timetable versions per defined school year in your database. One version corresponds to one .gpn file.

Create version							
The version must be within the range of 1-255							
1	Version						
prov. Plan	Text (max. 50 o	of charact)					
	ОК	Cancel					

To create a new version click on the <New> button in input box "Version". Assign your new version a unique number within the school year. You may also choose to add a descriptive text.

Logging in

Untis Database / School data in database 🛛 🗙						
School number:						
1	-	New	Manage school(s)			
Text:						
School year:						
2018/2019	Ŧ	New	Manage school years			
Text:						
Version:						
1	-	New	Manage versions			
Text:						
User:						
Administrator	Ŧ					
Password:		Change password OK Cancel				

Once at least one school, a school year and a version have been created you can log in to the data set.

The default user setting in the empty database provided by Gruber&Petters is "Administrator" (no password set). This user ID has all user rights and cannot be deleted.

When you first log in to the database of a newly created school, the window with the licence data will open up automatically. Enter your licence data and confirm your input with <OK>. This step will not be required if you have imported data from a .gpn file following the instructions of the previous chapter. You can now work with Untis as usual.

5 User administration

Untis MultiUser has a hierarchic user rights system which is structured as follows

User groups

Every user grouphas explicitly defined rights. You can assign as many users to one user group as you wish.

Users

Every user is assigned to exactly one user group.

When you start Untis for the first time with an empty database in the database mode, the user group "Administrator" - which is furnished with all user rights - is created automatically. At the same time, a user "Administrator" will be created who is part of this group. Neither user nor user group can be deleted

or changed.

🕘 User i	rights				-	□ ×
Ne	w		Delete]		
Number o	fusers		1			
Name		A	dministrator			
Create sc	hool					
Create sc	hool yea	r				
Create ve	rsion					
Administr	ator					
User adm	inistratio	n		1		
Optimisat	ion			1		
Print				1		
Substituti	on stats.		\checkmark	1		
Data expo	ort		\checkmark	1		
Data impo	ort		\checkmark	1		
WebUntis			\checkmark	1		
Info-Time	table		\checkmark	1		
Timetable)		Edit	:		
Master da	ta		Edit	:		
Special da	ata		Edit	:		
Lessons			Edit	:		
Terms			Edit			
Cover pla	nning		Edit	:		
Absences			Edit			
Course so	cheduling)	Edit			
Reduction	IS		Edit			
Schools	School	/ears	Versions	Multiple terms	Departments	Read only
All	All	,	All	All	All	
				0	К	Cancel

Note:

The automatically created user "Administrator" does initially not have a password. You need to assign one to him.

5.1 Changing passwords

The button <Change password> is located in the login dialogue.

Untis Database / Import school data X						
School number:						
1	Ŧ	New	Manage school(s)			
Text:						
School year:						
2018/2019	Ŧ	New	Manage school years			
Text:						
Version:						
1	Ŧ	New	Manage versions			
Text:						
User:						
Administrator	Ŧ					
Password:		Change password				
		(OK Cancel			

When you activate this button a dialogue appears in which you can enter a new password for the currently selected user.

Password		×
Old password:		
New password:	•••••	
Retype new password:	•••••	
	ОК	Cancel

Enter the user's old password in the top field. If no password has yet been assigned, it will not be possible to enter the old password. You have to enter the new password twice to avoid typing errors.

When you are done confirm with <OK>.

Class timetable portrait Class timetable landscape

-**----**

5.2 User groups and user rights

You can administer all user groups and all the associated user rights via the menu item "Modules | MultiUser | User administration | User rights".

M	odules				
ues		💼 (Jsers 🝷		
s 💌	Multillser		Users		its
	*		User ri	ghts	
			Active	users	

Users who do *not* have the right "User administration" can open the dialogue to inform themselves about their rights. They will only be able to see their own user group and they will not be able to make any changes

5.2.1 Levels of rights

Several rights have four levels:

1. No rights

Functions may not be executed and data not displayed. The corresponding menu items are deactivated or an appropriate message will be displayed when an attempt is made to perform a function.



(🕑 1a -	Class 1a	a (Gauss	Timet	€ ,) .		□ ×		
1a 💌 🖶 🚇 🛛 🖽 🕼 🖾 💋 🙄									
▼ 03.09.2018 ∨ - 8.9.2018									
	1a	Callas							
		Мо	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa		
	1	4.0	EN	EN	MU	DE	MA		
	2	AR	DE	GEc.	MA	RE	EN		
	3	EN	-	MA	EN	BI	PEG.		
	4	MA	DS.	Unt	is - Hint				×
	5	DE	PEG.						
	6				N				** * . * 1. * .1* .*
	7	MU			• Yo	ou do n Timetal	ot have s ple: Edit	sut	ficient rights for this action:
	8	8							
	СІа1								

2. Read only

Dialogues and windows can be opened and data will be displayed; however, changes will not be allowed (e. g. view the timetable).

3. Edit views

This right is an add-on to "Read only". It also allows new views to be created and existing ones to be modified. However, data cannot be changed.

4. Edit

Data can be modified as desired.

🐣 User rights				- 🗆 ×
New	Delete			
Number of users	1	1	0	0
Name	Administrator	Office	Cover planner	Lesson planner
Create school				
Create school year				
Create version				
Administrator				
User administration				
Optimisation				
Print		\checkmark		
Substitution stats.				
Data export				\checkmark
Data import			\checkmark	\checkmark
WebUntis			\checkmark	\checkmark
Info-Timetable			\checkmark	\checkmark
Timetable	Edit	Read only	Edit views	Edit
Master data	Edit	Edit	Edit	Edit
Special data	Edit	No rights	No rights	Edit
Lessons	Edit	No rights	Read only	Edit
Terms	Edit	No rights	No rights	Edit
Cover planning	Edit	Read only	Edit	No rights
Absences	Edit	Edit	Edit	No rights
Course scheduling	Course scheduling Edit		No rights	Edit
Reductions	Edit	No rights	No rights	Edit 🗸
Schools School ye	ars Versions	Multiple terms	Departments F	Read only
			ОК	Cancel

🕘 User i	rights					-		×
Ne	w	Delete						
Number o	fusers		1	1	0		0	^
Substituti	on stats.							
Data expo	ort				\checkmark	\checkmark		
Data impo	ort					\checkmark		
Info-Time	table	\checkmark	1					
Timetable	•	ł	Ect	Read only	Edit views	E	dit	
Master da	ita	E	Edit	Edit	Edit	E	dit	
Special d	ata	ł	Edit	No rights	No rights	E	dit	
Lessons		ł	Edit	No rights	Read only	E	dit	
Terms		ł	Edit	No rights	No rights	E	dit	
Cover pla	nning	I	Edit	Read only	Edit	No righ	nts	
Absences		I	Edit	Edit	Edit	No righ	nts	
Course so	cheduling	ł	Edit	No rights	No rights	E	dit	
Reduction	IS	l	Edit	No rights	No rights	E	dit	¥
Schools	School yea	rs Version	18	Multiple terms	Departments	Read only		
1								
						ж	Cancel	
							Cancel	

In our example you can see the user group "Administrator" - which cannot be changed - and another three user groups, one for the head office, one for the timetable scheduler and one for the substitutions planner.

The difference between 'Read only' and 'Edit views'

The difference between the two levels "Read only" and "Edit views" should become clearer with the following example. Please pay close attention to the different settings for the *Timetable* right for the different user groups.

🕘 User rights						×					
	Rights					^					
Name	Office										x
Create school			🖤 1a -	- Class 1a	a (Gauss)	Timeta	able (Cla	11)			
Create school year			1a	•	÷ 🏨	- 4	-2 6	40	n 🔍 🖉	· 🔒 🎡	>>> ▼
Create version				00 2010			010			2	
Administrator				0.03.2010	, , <u> </u>	- 0.J.2	.010			-	
User administration			UnSc		T	14/-					
Optimisation			0/30	MO	IU	we	In		Sa		
Print	 Image: A second s		1		FN	F	MU	DE	MA		
Substitution stats.				10				22			
Data export											
Data import											
WebUntis											
Info-Timetable											
Timetable	Read only										
Master data	Edit										
Special data	No rights										
Lessons	File	Start Da	ta Scl	heduling		lies.		Course S	cheduling	Modules	
Schools School yea							1				
	Portrait Lan	dscape Por	trait Land	scape M	Aultiple	Indi	vidual C)verview	List of	Timetable Se	ttings
	Individua	I TTs	Over	view TTs	emerius *		Several w	veeks	pendus	Tormats)
			ОК	0	Cancel						

The head office has 'Read only' rights, but the substitution planners may also edit views.



As you can see in the figure, "Read only" allows no change to the data whatsoever. The level "Edit views" permits opening timetable settings, as well as selecting adjustments to timetable formats, in order to create new views, for instance.

In neither case is it possible to change, shift or unschedule existing lessons (in the timetable mode).

Warning:

This rule applies only to private views. As soon as a view is made "public" and can thus be accessed by all users, only users with the user right "Administration" can make changes. Read more about private and public views in the <u>corresponding chapter</u>.

It is therefore possible for e.g. people in the head office to create new views and modify existing ones but not to change the data. However, this should not be allowed at publicly accessible teacher terminals.

5.2.2 Rights

You can assign the rights described below to the user groups by checking the boxes.

· Create school / create school year / create version

These three user rights are required to create new data records in the login dialogue (school, school year and version).

You will also need the right "create version" if you wish to transfer a .gpn file to the database (via menu item "File | Store in database") or if you wish to transfer data from one version to another.

Administrator

A group with the *Administrator* right always has the *User administration* right (see next item). However, not every group with the user administration right is necessarily an administrator.

The right allows the following actions to be performed:

- Assign the administrator right
- Assign the Create school / school year or create version right
- These rights are automatically assigned with the **Administrator** right but can be removed on request.
- Edit licence data
- Edit public views
- o Create / edit external elements
- o Merge data

User administration

This right relates to the creation and administration of users and user groups

A user administrator cannot assign the following rights: administrator, create school, create school year and create version.

Optimisation

This right allows the following activities:

- Timetable optimisation
- Timetable optimisation in more than one term (provided you have the right to work in the selected terms)
- Room optimisation
- Weighting settings
- o Diagnosis
- Overall diagnosis
- CCC analysis
- Delete timetable
- Edit break supervisions
- Print

This right allows statistics and reports to be viewed and printed.

Substitution statistics

This right allows substitution statistics in cover planning to be viewed and printed.

WebUntis

This right allows the export of data from Untis to WebUntis and vice versa.

• Data import/export

This right allows all imports and exports to be performed, including export to a .gpn file

• Info-timetable

This right allows functions related to the module Info-timetable to be performed.

The following rights can be used together with the levels "No rights", "Read only", "Edit views" and "Edit"

Timetable Read only View timetables Diagnosis CCC analysis Overall diagnosis View break supervisions Edit timetables Scheduling timetable: Unschedule all periods Edit break supervisions

Edit views (in addition to 'Read only')

Modify timetable views (button <Timetable settings>)

Edit

• Define timetable formats

• Master data

Read only

- View master data

Edit master data
Auxiliary function "Subject group to alias" (File / Auxiliary functions)
Auxiliary function "Enumerate teachers" (File / Auxiliary functions)

Edit views (in addition to 'Read only')

- Create master data views
- Modify master data views (button <Grid adjustment>)

• Special data

This right allows the user to view and edit the following data

- o Departments
- o School holidays
- o 'File | Auxiliary functions |Ext.elements: Repair TT data'

• Items in the "Settings" menu

The "Settings | Miscellaneous" menu item includes some items that are not stored in the database but in the file "Untis.ini" on the local hard drive (e.g. the path to backup files) These items are always available irrespective of a user's rights.

• Lessons

Read only	Edit
- Lessons	 The right includes all functions of the module "Lesson planning and value calculation" such as:
 Lesson groups Lesson sequences Lesson table Subject bottlenecks 	 Team optimisation Teacher assignment Create lessons from the lesson table etc. and the auxiliary functions Coupl. to lesssequ. Studtotals to lessons Split multi-period lessons In the module cover planning Transfer standbys to lessons
	- Lessons for class conferences

Edit views (in addition to 'Read only')

- Create new lesson views
- Modify existing lesson views (buttons <Grid adjustment> and <Settings>)

• Terms

This right enables you to view and edit or to create new terms.

- o Multiple terms
- Finnish term planning
- Year's planning in terms
- o Term calendar
- o Term summary

• Cover planning

• View / edit all data of the module cover planning (except absences)

Absences

- View / edit absences
- Course scheduling
- o This right allows to view / edit data in the modules "Student timetable" and "Course scheduling".

• Reductions

View / edit reductions and reduction reasons

5.2.3 Limitations to school, school year...

You can limit the user rights to certain schools, school years, versions, terms and departments in the lower section of the "User groups" dialogue. However, the fields have to be activated from left to right. This means that you only apply limitations to a school year after you have applied limitations to a school.

Furthermore you have the possibility to check "Read only" at the end of the lines when desired. You can thus ensure that e.g. in some school years the data may be changed whereas in others it can be read only.

Clicking on the button in the relevant cell displays possible elements for selection. Multiple elements can be selected.

The figure shows the rights of user group "Demo group". This group has in school no. 2 access to all data in the school years 2016/2017 and 2017/2018, but access to data for the school year 2018/2019 is limited to "Read only".



Please note the following 'priority rules':

Rule 1: the "Read only" code only applies within the row, both for the term as a whole as well as for the department as a whole.

Term	Department	Read only
P1	A1	х
P2	All	

In the example above, all rights are limited to 'Read only' as soon as either P1 or A1 is selected.

Term	Department	Read only		
xxx	All	х		
xxx	A1			

Rule 2: Naming an element 'trumps' 'All'
All departments with the exception of A1 have "Read only" rights.

Term	Department	Read only
ххх	A1,A2,A3	х
ххх	A2,A3,A4	

Rule 3: When several elements are named, 'Read only' trumps

With this input, departments A1, A2 and A3 have "Read only" rights. A4 alone has 'normal' rights.

Please also note that a user administrator can only assign rights to a user group for those schools for which he/she is also authorised.

All entries made in the "User groups" dialogue will only be written to the database when <OK> is clicked. If you click on <Cancel> all current input will be rejected.

5.3 Creating users

Users with the right **User administration** can administer existing users and create new ones via "Modules | MultiUser | User administration | Users". Every user is assigned to exactly one user group.

There are several possibilities to make entries for existing users:

• You can assign a user to any user group by using a combo box that appears when you click on the relevant field in the table.

				New user	×
	User administr	ation		Dummyuser Office -	Name User group
ID	Name	User group	Last login	••••	Password
1	Administrator	Administrator	12.7.2018 - 16:17		Detroit accounted
2	Office	Office	12.7.2018 - 13:35		Retype password
3	Cover planner	Cover planner	12.7.2018 - 14:05		
4	Lesson planer	Lesson planner		ОК	Cancel
		Delete	New	ОК (Cancel

Please note that the "Last login" field contains information about when a user last logged in.

If a user has forgotten the password, the administrator can delete or change it in the "User

administration" window. The user should then enter a new password using the <Change password> button in the login dialogue. (See the following figure.)

User administration										
ID	Name	User group	Last login	Password	Departments					
1	Administrator	Administrator	13.7.2018 - 10:47	None						
2	Office	Office	13.7.2018 - 10:46	Set						
3	Cover planner	Cover planner		Set						
4	Lesson planner	Lesson planner		Set 🗸 🗸						
				Set						
				ls being del	eted					
	Change password									
		Delete	New	ОК	Can	cel				

Untis Database / Import sch	ool data 🛛 🕹	
School number:		
1 -	New Manage school(s)	
Text:		
School year:	Password	×
2017/2018 -	Old password:	
Text:	New password:	
Version:	Retype new password:	
1	OK	Cancel
Text:		Cancer
User:	1	
Cover planner 👻		
Password:	Change password OK Cancel	

Warning:

Only users who have the "Administrator" right can assign the "Administrator " right to user groups.

If more than one school is held in the same database, an administrator can assign user groups only to his/her own school.

As with user groups, all entries are temporary and are only written to the database after you have confirmed with <OK>. An exception is creating new users, which are written to the database immediately.

Departments at user level

If you are working with the *Department timetables* module, it is possible to define rights to departments at user level. In the "User" dialogue you can assign any user to his/her department via the corresponding field. To delete entries, press the <Delete> key.

	User administra	tion	\times	🔳 Depa	artments	×			
			\$Optional \$ Grid	Static Text, displ	ayed above the				
ID	Name	User group	Last login	Password	Departments		Schools	Departments	
1	Administrator	Administrator	13.7.2018 - 10:47	None			1,2,3	A1	
2	Office	Office	13.7.2018 - 10:46	Set			1,2,3	A117	
3	Cover planner	Cover planner		Set			1,2,3	МЬ	
4	Lesson planner	Lesson planner		None			1,2,3	D1	
							1,2,3	D117	
		Delete	New	ОК	Cancel				
	User administra	tion				×			
	-								1
							All	Marked	Inverse
ID	Name	User group	Last login	Password	Departments		0	к	Cancel
1	Administrator	Administrator	13.7.2018 - 10:47	None		4			
2	Office	Office	13.7.2018 - 10:46	Set	A1				
3	Cover planner	Cover planner		Set					

If there are departments defined at user level, all entries that were made in the field "Department" for user groups will be ignored.

Via the "Departments" combo box at the main tool bar the user can only switch to those departments for which he/she has rights



5.4 'Active users' dialogue

All users can see which users are currently logged in and which activity they are performing at the moment. No special rights are necessary for this.

The list of active users can be accessed via "Modules | MultiUser | User | Active users".

Cartive users											
School - All -	Ŧ	School year - All -	- All - Logout user								
Active users											
Name	School	School year	Version	Division	Période	Mode	Activity				
Administrator	1	2017/2018	1	- All -		Untis	User administration				
Cover planner	1	2017/2018	1	- All -		Untis	Master data				
Lesson planner	1	2017/2018	1	A1		Untis					
						Refresh	Close				

5.4.1 Logging out other users

Provided you have **user administration rights**, you can log out users with the corresponding button in the "Active users" dialogue. In this case a user who was forcibly logged out will receive a message.



Please note that you have the possibility to send an internal message to all active users before you log them out. Read more about this feature in chapter <u>Information system</u>.

5.5 Working simultaneously

The following section refers only to users who are logged in the same version, i.e. they have chosen the same school number, the same school year and the same version in the login dialogue.

5.5.1 Changing the same data simultaneously

Many activities of several users can be performed simultaneously. It is no problem when e.g. two users work on master data and lessons at the same time. Until checks about every 10 seconds to see whether changes have been made to the data set, and, if necessary, updates the information.

If two (or more) users modify the same record (e.g. change a full name or schedule a period at two different places) then the user whose data was written to the database first "wins". The other user receives a message that the change could not be carried out. The following figure demonstrates this process:



Untis - H	lint ×
<u>^</u>	Data has been modified by another user: Course: 22 Lessons: Lessons: 1
	ОК

Entries of user 2 are read and displayed to user 1 with a delay of approx. 10 seconds. There are, however, actions that cannot be performed simultaneously with specific other actions. They are called "critical actions" below. For some of these actions, the user has to use the system exclusively, i.e. no other user may be logged in the version that is being modified.

Cover planning has a special status because of the highly sensitive data that is administered there (see chapter "Cover planning and timetable planning").

5.5.2 Data consistency

Several safety mechanisms are implemented in Untis MultiUser to ensure the consistency of the data.

For example, it is not possible to change master data and lessons during an optimisation of the timetable in the same term. The user whose processing is not possible will receive a message to that effect.



For the following actions the user has to be the only one logged into the system:

- Import of data
- Import of departments
- Editing of licence data
- Specific settings (school data, time grid, etc)
- "File | New School Year..."
- Creating or editing of terms
- Optimisation of more than one term
- Entry and editing of holidays

In some cases (e.g. holidays) it is possible to open the windows and dialogues concerned if the user is not the only one in the system. However, it is not possible to change data

You can log out active users to gain exclusive access to the database (see chapter " Logging out other users".

6 Private / public views

All definable views and all window groups in Untis MultiUser are saved independently for each user, i.e. if the scheduler (in our example user StP) changes the standard view for class timetables, then the same view remains unchanged in the head office (user Sek).



This feature is not limited to the modification of views. Every user can create and delete any views (provided he/she has the right "Edit views" for the respective type). All other users keep their own views and are not affected by these changes.

6.1 Private copies of public views

Public views are available for all MultiUser users, even for those who do not have the right to change public views.

If such a user tries to modify a public view, e.g. in order to change the font size, Untis 2019 provides you now with the possibility to automatically create a private copy of the public view:

- Ita	а	-	-	🗆 🗱	0	Ø Ø 🗧 🗟	V 🖉 🏖 💌	& 👿 👔	*	-	
	Name	Full name	Room	Lock (X)	Ignore (i)	Main subj./day	Consec. Pers.	Lunch break	Perlogis/day		
	1a	Class 1a (Gauss)	R1a			4	2	1-2	4.6		
	1b	Class 1b (Newton)	R1b			4	2	1-2	4 6		
	2a	Class 2a (Hudo)	R2a			4	2	1-2	-7		
tis - Question × 2 1-2 4-7											
							2	1-2	4-8		
~							2	1-2	4-8		
	Vou do	not have the user righ	ta to ab	ange this	view Veur	changes will no	. 2	1-3	4-8		
You do not have the user rights to change this view. Your changes will not											
	be save										
	be save	u in the database.								_	
	be save Do you	want to create a priva	te copy	of this vie	ew?		-6				
	be save Do you	want to create a priva	te copy	of this vie	ew?		KI	asse (Kla) (Pub	lic)*	~	
	be save Do you	want to create a priva	te copy	of this vie	ew?			asse (Kla) (Pub	lic)*		

Additionally, the user can give this new view a new name and long name.

Neues Format				
MyKla	Name			
Klasse: Meine Ar	nsicht		Langna	me
🔄 im Menu 🔄 Public		Oł	k	Abbrechen

6.2 Marking views "Public"

Sometimes the feature described above is not desired, e.g. when Untis provides views at several terminals which should be centrally controlled by the administrator.

In this case Untis offers the possibility to check specific views with the flag "Public". In this way, the view is made available to all users, and alterations are displayed to all users, as well.

🐣 Formats / Stundenpläne 🧧 🗖									
	ଞ୍ଚ - 📑					-			
ſ	Name	Full name	Standard	In menu	Public	^			
	Kla-HTML	Klassen HTML							
	Leh-HTML	Lehrer HTML							
	Rau-HTML	Raum HTML			\checkmark				
	Leh1	Lehrer 1							
	Kla1	Klasse 1	\checkmark						
	Rau1	Raum 1							
	Stu_T11	Student 1	\checkmark						
	Leh-M-1	Lehrer 1							
	Kla-M-1	Klasse 1							
	Rau-M-1	Raum 1							
	Stu_T1-M-1	Student 1							
	Leh-V1	Lehrer 1							
	Kla-V1	Klasse 1							
	Rau-V1	Raum 1							
	Stu_T1-V1	Student 1							
	Leh1A	Lehrerplan groß		\checkmark					
	Kla1A	Klassenplan groß				~			

Only users with the "Administrator" right can set or remove the "Public" flag.



Only the setting defining which view is the default view and which view is to be displayed in the menu is saved for each user, i.e. each user can choose which view is opened by default by activating e.g. "Timetable | Classes".

Warning:

As soon as a view is marked "Public", all views of other users which bear the same short name will be overwritten without the system prompting for confirmation.

When a user creates a new view and marks it "Public" it is available to all users. As soon as the check is removed the view is available for private use to the user who has created this view as well as to the user who has removed the check. The view will no longer be displayed in the list of all views to all other users

Please also note that the 'Public' flag and the 'Standard' flag are completely independent. It is up to each user as to whether a 'Public' view is used as 'Standard'.

6.3 Saving to .gpn files

It is sometimes useful to save data stored in the database to a .gpn file. For example, a scheduler may wish to work at home at the weekend and does not have a connection to the network.

The following rules apply with regard to views:

- During the export of data to a .gpn file all private views of the active user as well as all public views will be written to the .gpn file.
- If you subsequently create new views in the .gpn file and you transfer the file back to the database then the new views will be stored as'private' views.

Warning:

Public views are flagged as such internally in the .gpn file, too If you flag views as public in the database after export to the .gpn file then you will lose the changes when you transfer the .gpn file back to the database.

Changes to views are not taken into account when you merge data from a .gpn file into the database.

7 Shared resources

Many schools share certain resources such as gymnasia or teachers who work at different schools. It is necessary to arrange in the planning phase which resource will be available to which school at what time in order to prevent clashes between the elements in question.

With MultiUser it is possible to define these shared resources in the database as such. You can access the state of the scheduling of the shared resources in the other school at any time is a similar way to resources that are shared between departments

Tip: External resources in the department timetable

At very large schools the loading of a .gpn file or the login to the database can take a long time because of the huge amount of data. When you create schools instead of departments and you define resources shared by these schools (instead of shared by departments) you can break up the data into smaller amounts without losing track of the shared elements. Performance will improve dramatically as only the data of one department has to be loaded at a time.

7.1 Creating external elements

Let us consider the following example:

Teacher Gauss teaches at two schools: "Manual School 1" and "Manual School 2". Both schools use Untis MultiUser and they have a common data source directing to the relevant ODBC connection.

To define Gauss as shared resource you have to select the menu item "Modules | MultiUser | External elements" in one of the sets of data.

M	odules	
es •	MultiUser	i Users ▼ External elements Settings MultiUser

A dialogue opens in which you can create external elements. These then have to be connected to the corresponding elements in the master data.

Tip: Short name of external elements

The short names of external elements do not necessarily have to match the short names of the master data. However, we recommend that you use the same short name for shared resources in all schools. First, this makes it easier to maintain an overview and , second, Untis auxiliary functions can be used.

If the shared teachers or rooms have already been defined in the master data, you can quickly add them to the list of external elements using the <Create external teachers> or <Create external rooms> buttons.



As you can see in the figure, this function performs two steps. First, a new element with the short name of the selected teacher is created in the window "External elements" and, second, the newly created element is connected to the corresponding element in "Master Data | Teacher" of the active school. This is effected via the "Ext. name" field, where the short name of the external element is added.

In our example, teacher Gauss was defined as an external element in the school Manual School 1. Work is now finished in this school's data. The timetable scheduler of the school Manual School 2 now has to log in and open the window "External elements".

As there is already a data record for teacher Gauss in the window "External elements" in the school "Manual School 1", this record will appear in the school "Manual School 2", too. Now Gauss has to be linked to the corresponding entry in "Master Data | Teachers". This is effected either by making an entry manually in the field "Ext. name" in "Master Data | Teachers" or – in case the short name of the external element is the same as the short name of the teacher – via the <Transfer to master data> button.

If external elements are created (manually) with the short name is not the same as the respective master data short name, the field "Ext. name" needs to be fille in manually, as well.

	🛞 External resources / External resource										
	Gaus	s 🔻	+	LT 🔀	⊉ 😍	5 🖬	🗟 • 💩 🤣			Ŧ	
	Na	ime	Full name	1	Гуре	Text	Owner	Authorised			
	Ga	auss	Gauss	1	Teacher		1				
0	Teacher	rs / Lehrer			□ ×		Untis	stion			×
G	auss	▼ 🖨	# = (* 🕱	. ₹ °			i			
Ē	Name	Surname	Boom	Ext na	me		6 E	xternal resou	urces a	re beir	ng allocated to masterdata
\vdash	Ivanic	Sumane		Ext. Ind	line		e 😈 e	lements with	h the s	ame n	ame
	Gauss	Gauss		Gauss			L	o you want	to con	iunue:	
	Hugo	Hugo		9	5						
	Ander	Anderse	n						• ((la Nein
	Arist	Aristotle									7a Ivein
	Callas	Callas									
	Nobel	Nobel									
	Rub	Rubens									
	Cer	Cervante	5					If the r	name	es of	the
	Curie	Curie					- e	external e	elem	ents	match
	New	Newton					🧨 t	hose of t	the m	naste	er data,
								they are	auto	omat	ically
								transferr	red to	o the	e "Ext.
-		Lehrer			×						

All entries and input of data to define shared resources have now been completed. The next section describes how Untis will notify you when an external element is used by the other school.

7.2 Working simultaneously

We assume that teacher Gauss is defined as a shared element of the two schools, "Manual School 1" and "Manual School 2", as described in the example used in the previous chapter.

If either of the two schools now schedules lessons for teacher Gauss then this information will be

displayed in Gauss' teacher timetable in the other school. The icon shwos that this is the lesson of another school.



Please note that in the school "Manual School 2" lessons have been scheduled for Monday, periods four and five, whereas in Manual School 1" periods 3 and 4 are displayed as occupied.

Period number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Period number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Period label									Period label								
	8:00	8:55	9:50	10:45	11:40	12:35	13:30	14:25		9:00	9:55	10:50	11:40	12:35	13:25	14:15	15:05
	8:45	9:40	10:35	11:30	12:25	13:20	14:15	15:10		9:45	10:40	11:35	12:25	13:20	14:10	15:00	15:50
Monday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Monday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern
Tuesday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Tuesday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern
Wednesday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Wednesday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern
Thursday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Thursday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern
Friday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Friday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern	Aftern
Saturday	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni	Morni				Saturday	Manuf	Manuf	Maria	Manuf	AB			
Untis D	atabas	e / Imj	port so	hool d	lata				Untis	Datab	ase / Ir	nport	schoo	l data			
School 2	School number: 2 • New Man						Nana		Sch 1		nber:	Ŧ		New		Mana	
Text:			Sch	ool 2					Tex	t:		So	chool 1				

The reason for this are the different time grids used by the two schools

As you can see in the figure, the third period in the school "Manual School 2" lasts from 9.50 to 10.35. Since "Manual School 1" starts one hour later, the second period is overlapped. Due to the distribution of breaks, there is a bigger offset only later in the afternoon, which means that the lessons on Tuesday in periods 7 and 8 in "Manual School 2" are blocking the periods 6 to 8 in "Manual School 1".

If you activate "TT display in minute mode" on the "Layout 2" tab in timetable settings, "Manual School 1" can see precisely when teacher Gauss is scheduled in "Manual School 2".

Gauss - Gauss, Carl Friedrich Timetable (Leh1)	A = A =
Gauss 💌 🖨 🐨 🐺 🌆 🖓 🍏	🔍 & 👰 * 🎯 Ev 🗸 🗸
School year:3.9.2018 - 29.6.2019	🖵 🛞 Layout 01 - Individual timetable with days across the top 🛛 – 🗖 🗙
UnSc Mo Tu We	TI General Selection range Layout 1 Layout 2 HTML Period window Changed Periods
1 🙀 3b 🙀 3a	Double periods like single periods Veriod Comb. class names (2a,2b->2ab) Bold All classes in one field
2 3b 😭 4 😭 4	2 2 Mark couplings with a dot Emphasised by '!' ✓ Mark locked periods with a * (asterisk) Underlined
3 🙀 3a 🙀 1b 🙀 4	Sort periods in case of clash Sort periods Sort periods
4 🙀 1b 😭 3a	Cover planning Print black white
5 😤 4	No reason of absence Only full day absences HTML index pg with full names
6	Only cover periods Only cover period
7 😭 3a	DragDrop: Multiple lessons DragDrop: colours same as time requests
8 🙀 ^{3a}	✓ DragDrop: show chained swaps ✓ Use alias for details window/legend
L-No. Tea. Subj. Rm. Cla. Time School v	ree
	OK Cancel Apply
,	Leh1 - Lehrer 1 v.:

The availabilities of external elements are also visualised in the scheduling dialogue.

🕒 Le	s.:3 Scheduling d	ialog																		Þ		C		×
ę,	l 2 🖓 💀		6 6 '	2	●, ≡⊽	æ	۶ 🖸	è 🖡	2	≣x Ø	🤌 🖩	প্থ	ø 🖗	ŀ										÷
Lesson 3	s		/	Unsc	hedule	d	Info	rmatio	n	Histo	ry	Chai	ned sv	vaps	►	0								
3.9.201	8-		Les.	Uns	Time	Cla	a. Te	ea.	Sub.			^	Perio 17	ds:		\bigcirc								
30.6.20)19		1	4		3a	G	auss	MA				All											
GA, TX	(3	2	!	За	G	auss	GA				per	iods										
	Dras		4	2	!	3b	G	auss	GA			¥	On	ly for										-
	I-I Jrad				Mon	day	_						Tuo	active aday	- I					Wod	noed	21/		-
		1	2	2	A	uay E	6	7	0	1	2	2	I ue:	5uay	6	7	0	1	2	2	A	ay E	6	Τ.
	105.3	-	2	J	4	5	141	131	131		2	5	4	5	151	121	121		2	5	4	161	111	
H	3a	x	x		x	x	.4.		:5:		x	x	x	x	.0.		:2:	x	x	x		.0.		
	Gauss Cur			х	x					х	~	~	~	~	_					~	_			
	Gauss	6	c	0						•	•	•	•	•				1	6	•	•	\supset		
	Curie			.4	2b					.4				_		_								
····+	R3a, TW																							
<											1	1												>
																				上				
L-No.	Tea. Subj. Rm.			Cla.	Time			Sch	ool we	ek	Stud									nt grou	up			
	External: 1 3a,M	/A,R	3a		9.50-1	10.35	(45)	1-43	3 🧀					-	-									
																								•

In the details window of the timetables and the scheduling dialouge you see in which week external elements are not available.

Warning:

You can create as many schools and school years as you wish and up to 255 versions in the database. If "Manual School 1" logs in to version 1 then the information regarding the external elements of the school "Manual School 2" will also be retrieved from version 1. All schools must work with the same version in order to ensure that the display is correct. We recommend that you always work with version 1.

7.3 Clashes with external elements

As already described in previous chapters, a school's timetable shows when the external elements are used by other schools.

For the Untis algorithm these externally scheduled periods are blocked and this blocking cannot be breached. Sometimes, during the phase of manual planning, you might wish to create clashes that will only be resolved at a later point in time.

You can create collisions with external elements just like any other clash.

C	Gau	iss - Gauss, C	arl Friedri	ch Timetable (Le	h1)			•	> - <u>-</u>	- ×
K	Gauss	•	😭 × . 🚺	- 6 49	n 🖉 🔍	🚡 - 🎯	▼			-
	So	chool year:3.9	.2018 - 29.(5.2019	10					
	0.00	Мо	Tu	We	Th	Fr	Sa	3a	4.	= ₽
	0.00-	(∰ 3b	🚰 За		😤 4			3a.		_
	9.00-	🎯 ^{3b}	😤 ⁴	<u>@</u> 4	<mark>@</mark> 223					
	10.0-	ja 1	🚰 1b	😤 4	<u>@</u> 223		😭 ⁴	3b.		
	11.0-		🚰 1b	😭 За	<u>@</u> 4	😤 4				
	12.0-		4 4			6 4 6 1a				
	13.0-	-2	-2		-2			^2a.		
	14.0-	-2	-2	😭 3a	-2			1b.		
	15.0-	-2	-2	Untis - Questi	on			×		-
				A					*	×
				Prof Elen	esseur: Gaus nent already	s - Tu-5 booked in an	other school	(external element).		
							ОК	Abbrechen		

The collisions are displayed in the timetable and listed in the diagnosis.

Gauss - Gauss, Carl Friedrich Timetable (Le	h1)	D - • ×
Gauss 🔻 🖨 🐨 🐺 🌆 🔒 🗁	💋 🔍 & 🝺 = 🎂 🖹	*
School year:3.9.2018 - 29.6.2019	Timetable diagnosis	A D - A X
Gauss	₫ 🖗 🍸	-
UnSc Mo Tu We	03.09.2018 V \$.9.9.2018	rpe of diagnosis
3b 🔬 3a	Input data Timetable The	ere are timetable clashes for these elements.
	Diagnosis Wtg Num	
3b 4 4		
	Class 34	eighting: *
10.0- 3a 4 10 4	Teacher 49	umber: 1 Show related windows
	Too many NTP's 3 5	Tea. Per. L-No. L-No2
11.0	Double Non-Teaching-Period 4	Gauss Fr-5 5 External
9 9 9	Lunchbreak too short 3 1	
12.0	Day request not achieved 4 1	
	Not enough periods per day 2 14	
	Too many periods per day 2 1	
13.0	+3 time request not respected 4 2	
	lust one period on a helf day 2 11	
14.0	Teacher clash not permitted 1	
<u>r</u>	Toom 10	
	🗄 Subject 21	
	Students	
	Lesson sequences	
	Calendar - Year Planning	

7.4 Cover planning

The availabilities of external elements are stored and displayed in the cover planning module, too.

As you can see in the figure below, the shared resource teacher Gauss has been scheduled in the school "MS2" for special duties on Wednesday, 19 September in periods 7 and 8. He is thus not available for "MS1", which is displayed accordingly in the timetable.

The time of period 8 in "MS2" coincides with periods 7 and 8 in "MS1". Please note that teacher Gauss is not available for "MS1" for scheduling in the afternoon on Wednesday, 5 September, however on the Wednesday of the following week, i.e. on 12 September he is available.



7.5 General settings for external elements

The following possibilities of settings for external elements can be chosen in the Untis settings dialogue:



Do not show the school-ID in the timetable of external elements

If you tick this checkbox then the school-ID of external lessons is not shown additionally to the lesson data.



Read external elements without lessons only at login

If a master data element in my school does not yet have any scheduled lesson, then ticking this checkbox would prevent the external times of this element to be loaded while working with Untis. The respective data are only loaded at every login. This can positively influence the performance of Untis MultiUser. Please note, however, that changes of this element of any other school(s) are not up-dated during the scheduling process.

7.6 External elements: Owner

So far, it has always been necessary to have all data of all schools involved in one single database if external elements were used. As of the 2017 version, this is not necessary anymore. Every school can have its own database and all external elements are saved in a central database.



Go to the 'Start' tab and open via 'Settings | Open Untis.ini...' Untis.ini and enter in the section 'Database' the following lines 'odbc2=[name of external database]' and 'MultiDb=1'.

_		\times	(
Ansicht	?		
			^
			۷
	— Ansicht	— □ Ansicht ?	— 🗆 X Ansicht ?

When the databases are set up the schools can start with creating external resources.

Note!

Which schools potentially have access to external resources is regulated via the database of external elements. Every school having access to this database can be selected.

8 Working with departments

There are basically two possibilities to display departments with Untis MultiUser:

- **External resources** : Each department is represented as an individual school, and elements that are shared by departments are treated as elements that are shared by schools. This method is interesting for very large schools as only the data of one department is loaded.
- **Pooled data management** : All data is stored centrally in the database.

Whereas working with *external resources* allows processing of data only within the department (such as optimisation or cover planning), pooled data management makes it possible to apply all functions to the data of the entire school

Pooled data management is therefore the preferred approach for those schools whose volume of data does not affect the speed of Untis too much

Read more about external resources in chapter Shared resources .

The following chapters describe the possibilities of department planning in Untis with pooled data management.

8.1 Simultaneous optimisation of departments

If the timetable of a school is generated for all departments at the same time (optimisation of all departments) then Untis MultiUser offers the possibility for heads of departments to make entries to one set of data simultaneously. The export and import of departmental data is therefore not required.

In addition, you can view the current use of resources shared by departments at any time (e.g. the loading statistics of rooms).

You can use the user rights system to regulate which user is allowed to work on which department. You can view this in the combo box in the Ribbon where only the respective departments are available (see also section "Departments at user level" in chapter Creating users).

8.2 Departmental generation of timetables

If you generate timetables at department level Untis MultiUser has the following advantages compared to the usual procedure in the single-user version in combination with the *Department timetables* module:

With resources shared by departments (e.g. rooms), up to now it was necessary to agree in advance who may use which resource at what time in advance. This is no longer mandatory with Untis MultiUser, since every department is informed about the general state of planning at all times, and one resource cannot be scheduled twice at the same time accidentally as in this case a clash would occur and be reported.

There are many more possibilities for individual departments in terms of generating timetables since time

restrictions on the arrangements might create unnecessary limitations on scheduling.

Example: Gymnasium 1 (Gym1) is available to three departments. The departments agree that gymnasium 1 is available for department one on Monday and Tuesdays, for department two on Wednesdays and Thursdays and for department three on Fridays and Saturdays.

The availability of this room looks like this:

Availability of Gym1 as agreed:

Gym 1 is available to every department for 16 periods.



Untis MultiUser makes agreements in advance unnecessary, since department one starts scheduling, then department two follows and finally department three starts scheduling.

Availability of this room therefore looks like this:

Department one schedules 14 of 48 available periiods. Then department 2 schedules 12 periods of the remaining 34. Thus 22 periods are still available for department 3.



All three departments benefit from this arrangement, even department three which is the last to schedule.

Simultaneous optimisation of different departments in the same term is not possible.

8.3 Affiliation with departments

Since all departments are collected in one set of data, it must clearly be defined which lesson belongs to which department. This is specified in the master data of the classes.



If several classes are coupled in one lesson then the class which was entered first in the coupling defines the affiliation with the department. The "Department" column in the lessons window shows which department the lesson belongs to.

🌰 ci	ass 1b (Newto	on) / K	lasse							< N -		×
1b	-	- 🗄	+		X	. 7 2	• e 🐹	R - Q -	NX XX	a 8 🖉 🖗	1 🗳 🔓	- 🍲 🙆	Ŧ
L-No.	± CI,T	UnSc	Per	YrsPrds	Teache	Subject	Class(es)	Department	ubject	roc Homeroom	Double pers	Block	
11	4, 1		2		Hugo	GEc	1a,1b,2a,2b	A1		R1a			
7	± 2, 3		2		Gauss	DS	1b	A1	VS	R1a	1-1		
73	± 2, 2		3		Arist	PEG	1a,1b	A1	sH2	R1a			
78	2, 1		1		Ander	DS	1b,3b	Mb	VS	R1b			
30			6		Arist	MA	1b	Mb		R1b			
28			1		Ander	HI	1b	Mb		R1b			
2			3		Callas	AR	1b	Mb		R1b		3	
64			2		Cer	BI	1b	Mb		R1b			
70			1		Curie	ТΧ	1b	Mb	w	R1b			
54			6		Rub	DE	1b	Mb		R1b	0-1		
36			1		Callas	MU	1b	Mb		R1b			
47			2		Nobel	RE	1b	Mb		R1b			
)				
- L	-No.	1	1	-						Klasse*		~	·]:

A teacher can be assigned to several departments so that he/she can be deployed in all these departments. Rooms and subjects can also be assigned to any number of departments. If no department is entered, then this means 'affiliated to all departments'.

۲	Teachers ,	/ Lehrer	Þ	- 🗆	×
þ	urie	- 🗄 🖬 🗐 🤅	7 🗾 🗶	A × 8	>> *
	Name	Surname	First name	Dept.	
	Gauss	Gauss	Carl Friedrich	D1	
	Hugo	Hugo	Victor		
	Ander	Andersen	Hans Christian		
	Arist	Aristotle			
	Callas	Callas	Maria	D117	
	Nobel	Nobel	Alfred	D117	
	Rub	Rubens	Paul	D117	
	Cer	Cervantes	Miguel		
	Curie	Curie	Marie	D117	
	New	Newton	Isaac	D1	
)
-		L	ehrer (Leh)*	``	:

9 Cover planning

With Untis MultiUser it is possible for more than one person to work simultaneously on cover planning. In addition to this, it is possible to work simultaneously on cover planning and on the timetable provided that the work is carried out in different terms. From the 2016 version onwards, room planning in the timetable mode can simultaneously be done with cover planning within the same time frame.

9.1 Working simultaneously in cover planning

As with data entry or timetable planning, it is possible for more than one person to work on the same set of data of cover planning, e.g. one person can enter absences while another processes open substitutions.

9.2 Cover planning across departments

Cover planning across departments is easily possible, too, since every department can see the current state of planning at all times. The risk that a shared resource is accidentally scheduled twice is thus eliminated.

Moreover, each department can only access its own resources provided rights have been set accordingly in user administration.

In this case, substitutions are visible in all departments they affect. For example, if a class belongs to department 1 and the teacher to department 2, any substitution will be visible in departments 1 and 2.

9.3 Cover planning and timetable planning

When a user with editing rights works in the cover planning module it is not possible for other users to change the timetable in the same term. After all, cover planning requires a fixed timetable as a basis. The scheduler will receive the following message:



However, it is possible for the substitution planner to perform cover planning in the current timetable while at the same time the scheduler works on changes to a subsequent term in the timetable. Changes which are not relevant to the timetable (e.g. text fields in master data) are also possible.

From the 2016 version onwards room planning is exempted from this. While one or more users work on cover planning, it is possible to make room changes in the timetable planning. See chapter Room

planning and cover planning .

You can restrict cover planning to the currently selected term by ticking the checkbox "Restrict cover planning to current term" under "Settings | Miscellaneous | Multiple Terms". Now user of the Untis mode are no longer blocked by cover planners in other terms.

Settings		×
 School data General Overview Values Miscellaneous Auto-save Directories Timetable Customise Value Calculation Warnings HTML E-Mail Multiple terms Aurolation Internet Substitution Planning Course Scheduling MultiUser 	When modifying a 'mother-term': Change offspring-term autom. Never change offspring-term Never change offspring-term Ask me each time Toolbar Width of the drop down-menu for 120 Actual date of the terms Never change of the terms	er planning to the
Italic = locally stored settings (.ini files)		OK Cancel

9.4 Room planning and cover planning

From the Untis MultiUser 2016 verion onwards there is the possibility to change room allocations in the timetable mode simultaneously to cover planning.

The following rule applies:

Scheduling information (room allocations) in already existing cover data are not changed!

Initial situation:

- class 3a usually had GD (geometric drawing) on Thursdays in period 3 in room R3a
 - On 13 September GD will take place in the physics lab as an exception. The room change was executed in cover planning

🕐 si	ubstitutions / Leh	rer														×
	💥 🛪 👺 🕠	-	1 V	<u>8</u>	🔊 🏖	×× ××		b - 🧭	2	ŀ						-
Subst All	itute	From-1 13.09. Th	°o 2018 ↓	~			Unco	overed s	substitu	tions						
Lehre	er															
Subst	Туре	Dat⊨	Perio	(Subject	Subject	(Teache	Substitut	(Clas:	Class	(Rooi	Room	Shifte	(Te.)	Substitu	tion text	
35	Room repl.	13.9.	3	GD	GD	Gauss	Gauss	3a	3a		PL					
S	ubst. No.	-	÷								Leh	rer			`	

At the same time the following changes are made in the timetable mode:

- Regular GD lessons of class 3a should from now on take place in room R2a

- Physics lessons of class 2a on Thursdays in period three should from now on take place in the physics lab

Result:

Substitutions / Let	nrer											-		×
= 💥 🛪 👺 🗉	• 🔊 🖩 🖞	2 🐹	党 🤦	×× ××		• - 🧭	2	ł						Ŧ
Substitute	From-To 13.09.2018 Th	~ +			👿 🔻	vered	substitu	tions						
Lehrer														
Subst Type	Dat⊨ Perio	(Subject	Subject	(Teache	Substitut	(Clas:	Class	(Rooi	Room	Shifte	(Te.)	Substitut	tion tex	t
35 Room repl.	13.9. 3	GD	GD	Gauss	Gauss	3a	3a		PL					
Subst. No.									Leb	ner				

Scheduling information in the field 'Room' is not touched, in the column '(Room)', however, the new room 'R2a' has been entered. When working parallel in both modes, clashes can occur. These are highlighted in a different colour in the cover list. If the physics lab is scheduled in the timetable mode like in the example, the clash of the respective cell is highlighted. Furthermore, the substitution number is coloured in red.

9.5 Last change of substitution

As of the 2019 version there is a new column called 'User' in the substitution views. This column shows the user who made changes last in a substitution line.

🕘 Substitu	utions / Lehre	er											- [×
= 💥 🗧	r 👺 🦻	*	V	X 🕈 🕯	× ×	2 🔒 🛛	s - 🧑 🕴	.						Ŧ
Substitute	⊂ F	rom-To												
AI	- (3.09.20)18 🗸			18 🔻								
l'	V	Veek	4.1											
Lohene						Unco	vered substr	tutions						
Lerirer	-													
Subst. No.	Туре	Dat⊷	Period	(Subject)	Matiere	(Teacher)	Substitute	(Class(es))	Class(es)	(Room)	Salle	Substitution text	Users)
1	Substitution	3.9.	1	His		Rub	Gauss	За	3a	R3a	R3a		Administrator	
2	Substitution	3.9.	2	Ко		Rub	Curie	4	4				M. Poirot	
3	Substitution	3.9.	3	SportK		*Rub	Curie	3a, 3b	3a, 3b	Th1	Th1		M. Poirot	
4	Substitution	3.9.	4	SportK		*Rub	Nobel	1a, 1b	1a, 1b	Th1	Th1		Administrator	
5	Substitution	3.9.	5	D		Rub	Hugo	1b	1b	R1b	R1b		Miss Marple	
6	Substitution	4.9.	1	D		Rub	Gauss	1b	1b	R1b	R1b		M. Poirot	
7	Substitution	4.9.	2	D		Rub	Gauss	1b	1b	R1b	R1b		Miss Marple	
8	Substitution	4.9.	3	SportK		*Rub	Hugo	2b, 2a	2b, 2a	Th1	Th1		Mr. Bean	
9	Substitution	4.9.	4	Bio		Rub	Nobel	4	4				Mr. Bean	
10	Substitution	4.9.	5	His		Rub	Callas	2b	2b	R2b	R2b		Miss Marple	
Subst.	No.	÷										Lehrer (Ver-L	.eh)*	~ .::

10 Data security

Data security is concerned with protection against unauthorised access as well as the creation of backups in case of a system crash or damage to the database

10.1 Protection against unauthorised access

MySQL and MS SQL provide many possibilities to protect access to the database. Visit the vendors' websites to find out more about these.

Microsoft Access databases can also be protected against unauthorised access.

Note:

The explanation below describes the procedure when using Microsoft Office Access 2007. The procedure may differ a great deal from the one described below if you use a different version of Access. Please consult the Microsoft Access help feature in this event.

Launch the Access application and click on "File | Open". From the different possibilities to open the file "Untis.mdb" select option "Open Exclusive" (see figure below).

Offnen				×
Y 🛧 📥 > Dieser PC > Loka	ler Datenträger (C:)	`	・ ひ "Lokaler Da	tenträger (C:)" dur 🔎
Organisieren 🔻 Neuer Ordner				EE 🕶 🔲 🕐
ConeDrive	^ Name	Änderungsdatum	Тур	^
	Benutzer	29.02.2016 17:38	Dateiordner	
💻 Dieser PC	DB	27.03.2018 15:04	Dateiordner	
📰 Bilder	inetpub	08.09.2016 16:31	Dateiordner	
🛄 Desktop	ntel	29.02.2016 12:59	Dateiordner	
🖆 Dokumente	Mödling	Iling 28.03.2018 09:55 Dat	Dateiordner	
Downloads	PerfLogs	30.10.2015 08:24	Dateiordner	
h Musik	ProgramData	26.02.2018 09:10	Dateiordner	Es ist keine Vorschau
Videos	Programme	27.03.2018 15:14	Dateiordner	verfügbar.
	Programme (x86)	15.01.2018 09:36	Dateiordner	
Lokaler Datentrager (C:)	temp	03.11.2016 14:18 Dateiordr	Dateiordner	
Volume (D:)	Windows	30.10.2017 08:51	Dateiordner	
素 install (\\jupiter) (l:)	test.mdb	28.03.2018 11:09	Microsoft Access .	
索 divers (\\jupiter) (P:)	P Untis.mdb	28.04.2017 07:47	Microsoft Access .	
🛖 develop (\\jupiter) (Q:)	P Untis_mu.mdb	28.03.2018 11:12	Microsoft Access .	
素 distrib (\\jupiter) (T:)	Untis_mu_1.accdb.mdb	28.03.2018 11:17	Microsoft Access .	··· •
	• •			
Dateiname: Untis.mo	lb		✓ Microsoft /	Access (*.accdb;*.mc ∨
		Too	ols 🔻 Öffnen	▼ Abbrechen
			Öffn	en
			Schr	eibgeschützt öffnen
			Exklu	usiv öffnen
			Exkli	isiv schreibgeschützt öffnen

On the "Database tools" tab and select the <Encrypt with password> option and define a password.



You must now enter this password in the ODBC connection, as well. To do this, click on <Advanced> in the Untis ODBC connection and enter the password you defined in Access in the "Password" field. You can leave the "Login name" field empty.

	ODBC-Setup für Microsoft Access	?	×
	Datenquellenname: Untis	ОК	
	Beschreibung:	Abbrech	en
	Datenbank	Abbreen	
	Datenbank: C:\Untis_mu_1.accdb.mdb	Hilfe	
	Auswählen Erstellen Reparieren Komprimieren	Frweitert	
		Linokoli	
Envoitorto	Ontionen festlegen	1	
Liweiterte		r	
Standard Anmelder Kennwor	lautorisierung OK name: OK t: •••••	Optionen	>>
Optionen			
Тур	Wert		
Defau Driver Exten FIL Implic	ItDir r dedAnsiSQL 0 MS Access; itCommitSync utforSize 2040		
Wert v	von DefaultDir		

10.2 Backups

As when working with .gpn files, we recommend that you make backups on a regular basis when you work with Untis MultiUser. There are various possibilities for this:

Save the data of the database to a .gpn file (see chapter <u>Database and .gpn file</u>) and store the .gpn file in a safe place (local hard drive, CD-ROM etc.).

If you are working with MS Access then compress the database (.mdb file) in Access via "File | Manage | Compress and repair database" and maybe additionally with WinZip and store the .mdb file in a safe place (local hard drive, CD-ROM etc.).

MySQL and MS SQL provide their own tools for backing up the database. Please consult the relevant documentation to find out more.

Backup via command line

As of the 2016 version you can use the command line to safe data in a .gpn file.

The following example will explain the syntax:

Untis.exe DB~1~2016-2017~1 /user=Administrator /pw=abcd /backup=C:\temp\backup.gpn

This will create the file backup.gpn in the directory C:\temp - for this backup the administrator access is used (password: abcd).

Warning:

This type of backup only saves the school data, the formats (master data, lessons, timetables) of the respective user. Private formats of all users (= formats which are not public) can only be saved via a database dump.

11 Message system

Untis MultiUser provides users with an internal message system which can be used to send messages to other users.

11.1 Sending messages

To send a message to one or more users first go to "Modules | MultiUser | User messages".



In the "User messages" dialogue click on the <New> button and enter the text that you wish to send in the lower section of the dialogue.

User messages	-		×						
			-						
Ne 📑 New		1							
New element	t/create a lesson								
	Vrite new m	essage					-		×
	Users	School	School year	Version		Recipient			_
	Administrator	1	2018/2019	1					
	Office								
	Cover planner								
					٢				
	Subject:								
									~
						Send	Car	ncel]

All users registered in the database are displayed in the upper left section of the dialogue. Via the columns "School", "School year" and "Version" you can see in which set of data a user is working, if one of these users is currently logged in.

Select the users who are to receive your message and click on the <Add recipient> button. Alternatively, you can add users with a double click in the list of recipients

Tip:

You can select more than one user if you hold the <CTRL> key down.

😃 Write new m	essage					_	-	×			
Users	School	School year V	ersion	1		Recipient					
Administrator	1	2018/2019 1									
Office											
Cover planner											
Lesson planner											
					\bigcirc						
		😃 Write new	message							-	×
		Users	School	School year	Version			Recipie	nt		
		Administrator	1	2018/2019	1			Office			
		Office									
		Cover planner									
		Lesson planne	er 🛛								
							C				

If the message is to be sent to all users who are currently logged in then click on the button <Active users>. This adds all users to the list of recipients who are currently working in the set of data that you are logged in to.

Click on the <Send> button to start the process of sending the message.

11.2 Managing messages

As soon as a user sends a message, all recipients who are currently logged in see a notification that they have received a new message. All other users will receive this information when they log in the next time.

Information	×
You just received a new user messag	e. Do you want to read it now?
Yes	No

A confirmation with <Yes> opens the dialogue "User messages" with all received messages.

Note:

If you wish to read the message later then click on <No>. You can select the dialogue "User messages" at any time via 'Modules | MultiUser | User messages'.

Double-click on the subject of the message, or click on the <Show message> button to display the message.

ļ	🖗 в	enutzernachrich	nten						×		
	Ľ	💥 📾 🖗							-		
ſ	Neu	Absender	Datum	Zeit	Betreff:				_		
	×	Administrator	22.3.2018	14.56	alles Gute zum G	eburtstag!!!					
	~	Administrator	22.3.2018	14.56	Mittagsmenü	D	11	1. I.			
	×	Administrator	22.3.2018	14.58	Untis Update	Dobb	еік	пск			
		Betreff: Liebe Untis Nu morgen 7:00 U Minuten gespe Wir wünschen	Untis Upda Itzer, Ihr werden wi Int sein. gutes Arbeite	r auf die en mit de	neueste Version vo r neuen Version!	n Untis umste	ellen	Dabei w	rird der	r Zugang zur Datenbank einige	
										OK Abbrechen	

11.3 Deleting messages

If you wish to delete a message irrevocably from the database, mark the message with a click on the subject and then click on the <Delete> button.

11.4 Refresh

If the dialogue "User messages" is kept open for a long time, it might be useful to refresh the window in order to see changes made by other users or (as with the user messages window) to display new incoming messages. To do this, click on the <Refresh> button.

12 Other functions

12.1 Automatic log out when inactive

You now have the possibility to automatically log out users when they have not changed any data in the program for a set amount of minutes. Go to 'Modules | MultiUser | Settings' to set the timeout.

General MultiUser setting	gs	×
4 MultiUser		⊳ Kara a ka fta
Untis	Name (default="Untis")	Keep a log-file Log-File C:\Users\Praktikant\AppData
MS SQL Server		
	ODBC Usemame	Timeout due to inactivity
	ODBC Password	20
External elements Do not show the so external elements Read external elem login Flag externally sche	chool-ID in the timetable of ents without lessons only on eduled lessons with an icon ler Untis versions.	
	ОК	Cancel

12.2 Window arrangement

After logging in each user obtains the window arrangement that was effective when he/she closed the program, i.e. each user can start with a familiar, individual window arrangement.

12.3 Untis in info mode

The info mode is a function of the info timetable module. It shows prior defined views. This mode is for information purposes only, it is not possible to perform any changes.

This mode can be used with Untis MultiUser, too. Whereas the single-user version requires the path to the file in the command line, the multi-user version requires the school, school year and version, separated by a tilde \sim and preceded by "DB".

Instead of C:\Untis\Demo_Info.gpn,Info1 you would enter DB~<schoolnumber>~2018-2019~1,Info1

This is the same name that can be found in the list of most recently opened files (see figure).


Warning:

Certain special characters, e.g. the slash in school year must be replaced by a hyphen for technical reasons. We recommend that you refer to the list of recently opened files.

When Untis MultiUser first starts in info mode, the system checks whether there is a user or user group with the name "Info". If not, the user and group are automatically created (without password). This user is then used to log in from all info terminals.

Both the user and user group can be edited just like any other user (group).

Note:

If the info mode is used by the same user at more than one terminal, the user logging out at one terminal will **not** affect the other terminals. To start info-mode without the login dialogue please refer to chapterAutomatic login.

12.4 Automatic login

Untis MultiUser offers the possibility for users to log in to the set of data of their school automatically when they start Untis. The procedure is similar to setting up a link for Info mode:

- 1. Right-click on an empty space on your Windows desktop and choose "New | Link" from the context menu .
- 2. The target of this link has to be the Untis program. The link for the 2019 version could look like this:

C:\Program Files\Untis\2019\Untis.exe

To be logged in automatically you also have to enter school, school year and version separated by a tilde ~ and a preceded by "DB" as well as user name and password. This could look as follows:

DB~myschool1~2018-2019~1 /user=admin /pw=admin

Hence the complete path looks like this:

C:\Programs\Untis\2019\Untis.exe DB~myschool1~2018-2019~1 /user=admin /pw=admin

Please note that if you launch the program in this way then the password is displayed in plain text in the information about the link.

12.5 Creating a new school year

At the end of a school year Untis offers many possibilities to perform numerous functions for the creation of a new school year automatically. Needless to say, you can use these functions with MultiUser as well. As in the single-user version, go to "File | New school year" and first define the dates for the beginning and end of the school year to come.

After clicking <OK>, a dialogue will appear where you can define to which school year and version of the database the data are to be transferred.

New school year X	
School year	New school year X
02.09.2019 v 28.06.2020 v	School year
Heading for all reports Stundenplan 2019/2020	20192020 School year ID
Gilt ab: 10. Oktober	Text (max. 50 of charact)
	Existing school years
Delete este al balidaria	Version 1 Version
Center excess to the yearly balance	Text (max. 50 of charact)
Transfer the teacher automatically to the next y Delete the teachers' time requests	Existing versions
Delete the lessons' time requests Transfer the yeardy total to the yalue of pertion	OK Cancel
Delete student numbers	
 Delete the fixed subject s Delete comments 	
OK Cancel	

By default Untis suggests as the new school year the dates that are entered in the dialogue "New school year". If this school year does not yet exist in the database it will be created.

Note:			
1			

Especially with Untis MultiUser we recommend to create the new school year with this function since the data are automatically cleared (e.g. substitution data), as well as window groups and formats for all users are imported. If you create a new school year manually, you need to do these tasks by yourself.

12.6 Simultaneous login

If two users log in simultaneously, it can happen that they attempt to obtain write access to the same data record at the same time from two different workplaces. In this case a dialogue will appear informing you that synchronisation is not possible at the moment and prompting you to click the button <OK> again. When you do this, the same action will be repeated. No data will be lost.

12.7 Variable name of the ODBC connection

You can change the name of the ODBC connection used for communication with the database. This makes sense for example if you wish to log in to several different sets of data without always changing the name of the ODBC connection in the data source administrator dialogue of the control panel.

You can enter the name of the connection in the section "ODBC Connection" in the dialogue that opens via "Modules | MultiUser | Settings" .

General MultiUser settin	gs		\times
MultiUser ODBC Connection Untis MC SQL Server	Name (default="Untis")	<u>K</u> eep a log-file Log-File C:\Users\Praktikant\AppData	⊳
SQL_User SQL_User External elements Do not show the so external elements Read external elements In Read e	ODBC Username ODBC Password chool-ID in the timetable of nents without lessons only on eduled lessons with an icon	Timeout due to inactivity No timeout	
Permit access with old	der Untis versions.	Cancel	

12.8 My SQL database

In some cases it may be necessary to migrate the Untis data set from one particular type of database to another database, e.g. MS Access to MySQL or from MySQL for Windows to MySQL for Linux.

The following migration paths are possible:

Source database	Target database
MS Access	MySQL
MS Access	MS SQL
MySQL	MS SQL
MS SQL	MySQL

In the following we describe how to convert MS Access to MySQL. The other conversions are performed similarly.

1. First download the latest version of Untis from <u>www.grupet.at</u>, install it and log into the data set. Then log out and go to the 'File' tab. Click on 'Auxiliary functions' and go to 'Repair database'. This ensures that the data structure of your database is up-to-date. Then rename the ODBC connection to "Untis0".

enutzer-D.SN	System-	DSN	Datei-D.SN	Treiber	Ablaufver	folgung	Verbindur	naspoolina	Info	
Systemdater	auellen:		Dator Don	THE	70100170	loigang	V OI DI I I G GI	igopooning		
Name Untis UntisSQL	Plattform 32-Bit 32-Bit	Treib Micro SQL	er soft Access [Server	Driver (*.m	db)				Hinzufi Entfe Konfigu	igen men rieren
ODBC Datend Besch	C Microso quellennam reibung: ^{D D}	ft Acc e: U BC [ess Setup Intis0	o System				OK na mit dem	X	anen nsehbar,
Date	enbank: swählen	C:\Un E	tis_mu_1.acc rstellen	db.mdb Reparie	ren	Komprimie	eren	Hilfe	e ert	Hilfe
Syste	emdatenbar eine	ık								
© К О D	atenbank:									

2. Next, create a new ODBC data source called 'Untis' pointing to an empty database (i.e. one without any tables created) of the type to which you wish to migrate your data. If the ODBC application does

not list any driver you must first download it from an appropriate website (e.g. www.mysql.com).

	System-	DSN	Datei-DSN	Treiber	Ablauf	verfolgung	Verbindur	ngspooling	Info					
Systemdaten	quellen:													
Name	Plattform	Treiber						1	Hinzuf	ügen				
Untis0 UntisSQL	32-Bit 32-Bit	Micros SQL S	oft Access E erver)river (*.m	db)				Entfe Konfigu	ernen Irieren				
						Neu	e Datenqu	elle erstelle	n Wa	ählen Sie einen Ti stellen möchten.	reiber aus, fü	ürden Sie ei	ine Dat⊭nque) lle
SQL Connecto	tor/ODBC	C Data	Source Cor	figuratio	on		×	<u>k</u>	pute N N N N N	Name Microsoft Paradox Microsoft Paradox- Microsoft Text Driv MySQL ODBC 5.3 MySQL ODBC 5.3	Driver (*.db Treiber (*.db ver (*.txt; *.cs iber (*.txt; *.c ANSI Driver Unicode Dri) sv) sv) r iver	1 1 1 1 5 5	
Connection	Paramete	rs							- 5	SQL Server			1	~
Data Sour	rce Name:	Unti	S					1	<				>	
De	escription:	GruF	et 🛛											
TCP/ Na	IP Server: amed Pipe:	10.0	.0.155		Port:	3306				< Zu	rück Fe	rtig stellen	Abbrech	en
	User:	root									1	9		
	Password:	•••	•											

3. Now launch Untis and select "File | Login". Processing will start after you confirm the prompt asking whether the conversion to MySQL should be performed. This may take several minutes depending on the size of the database.

If the transfer is aborted while it is running, any tables must be deleted from the database and the process needs to be started from the beginning.

12.9 Support

As Microsoft Access databases are stored in a single file (.mdb) we can maintain existing support structures without any problems.

A zipped *.mdb database is approximately as big as a comparable .gpn file and is therefore not too big to be sent by e-mail. The same applies to the backups of other supported databases.

Before you zip the .mdb file you can compress the database to reduce the size of the file. In order to do this, open the Untis.mdb file and go to menu item "File | Manage | Database utilities | Compact and repair database" (please also refer to chapter 'Database reorganisation').

To transmit support data when using a MySQL or a MS SQL database, please make a backup with a database administration program and send this to your Untis partner.

13 Database and .gpn file

There are several possibilities to transfer data between the database and .gpn files. You can transfer the complete .gpn file into the database via the function " <u>Store_in database</u> ". Any changes that were made in the meantime will be overwritten.

Sometimes the scheduler wishes to work "offline" while colleagues are still working on the database. In this case he/she only wants to write the specific data records that he/she has changed back to the database. The function required in this case is provided by " Merge in database ".

Of course it is possible to export data from the database to a .gpn fileat all times.

13.1 Export data to a .gpn file

You can store the data of the version that you are currently working with in a .gpn file via "File | Export the data to a .gpn file..." This allows you to work on a computer which does not have a database connection (e.g. a notebook) and transfer the data back to the database. The instructions of this transfer are described on the following pages.

You can also transfer data to a .gpn file to make a backup (see chapter " Data backup ").

You need the authorisation "Data import/export" to perform this export. Please refer to chapter "<u>User</u> administration" for more information on authorisations.

13.2 Transfer of .gpn files into the database

Transfer of .gpn files to the database To transfer a particular .gpn file to the database first enter the licence data that you used to activate Untis MultiUser via "Settings | Licence data" then save the file and proceed as follows:

- 1. Open the file and go to the menu item "File | Store in database".
- 2. Select a school, a school year and a version to which the file is to be transferred. You can create a new version as described in chapter <u>The login dialogue</u>. If you select a version that already contains data, you will overwrite data in the database.
- Select user ID and password. Confirm with <OK>. The set of data will be transferred and you will be logged in automatically.

Tip: Backing up versions

This process transfers the data that is currently in memory to the database. If you are working with a particular version and you wish to save the current state as backup in the database then transfer the data to a new version and continue working there.

13.3 Merging data from .gpn files

As mentioned in the previous chapter, it is often necessary to transfer data from the database to a .gpn file in order to be able to work offline. Untis MultiUser offers a convenient tool to transfer data that has been changed offline back to the database without overwriting all the changes in the database that have been made by other users in the meantime.

0	dules	
	MultiUs	er 🍰 Users 👻
	🚊 Lo	ogin
	Lo	gout
	🔓 St	ore in database
(🔒 м	erge in database

Warning:

Merging data from a .gpn file with a database works only if the .gpn file was exported from MultiUser mode. If the .gpn file was not created this way then the respective menu item will be greyed out and inactive. When merging, the system will automatically take the data record in the database that was previously exported. An error message will be displayed if this no longer exists.



A complete work cycle looks like this:

- 1. Export the data from the database to a .gpn file.
- 2. You can now work separately in both sets of data.

Warning:

You must not change the terms at this point in time, otherwise the merging of data cannot be performed. Please make sure that any changes to terms are made before you start exporting to the .gpn file.

- 3. When the two sets of data are to be combined, open your .gpn file and choose the menu item "Modules | MultiUser | Merge in database".
- 4. A dialogue appears in which you have to enter your user name and your password. If the function "Log in after completion" is activated, you will be logged in automatically after the merge.

User		×
User	Administrat	tor 🗸
Password	I	
🔽 Log in afte	er completion	
	ОК	Cancel

Untis - C	Question
?	The data of the active file is now being merged into the database. School: 1 School year: 2018/2019 Version: 1 Continue?
	Ja Nein

5. Now Untis examines every table in the database to see if there are changes with regard to the data in the .gpn file. For each table where changes are encountered (master data, lessons, holidays, etc.) a dialogue will be shown in which you can choose whether the change should be carried out or not.

Let us consider the following example:

Merge data / Department										
Department Select modified elements Only .gpn changes All										
Apply	Name	Full name	In gpn	In DB	User					
	New	Newton								
	Hugo	Hugo		\checkmark	Administrator					
	Callas	Callas		\checkmark	Administrator					
	Nobel	Nobel		\checkmark	Administrator					
	Rub	Rubens		\checkmark	Administrator					
	Cer	Cervantes								
					Merc	ge selected elements				

In the columns "in gpn" and "in DB" you can see whether this element exists in the .gpn file or in the database. Teachers Hugo, Callas, Nobel and Rubens thus exist in both sets of data. They all have been changed in the database (last by the user "Administrator", see column "User"), which is indicated by the red background. The data of the teachers Cervantes and Newton, however, have only been changed in the .gpn file, which is why there is no red background.

In the example above the teacher Cervantes was newly created in the .gpn file (or deleted in the data base) and thus only has the checkbox "in .gpn" ticked. Newton, however, was deleted in the .gpn file or was newly created in the database and thus only has the checkbox "in DB" ticked. Use the column "Apply" to select the changes that you wish to transfer to the database. After that click on the button

Warning:

The checkbox "Apply" always refers to the .gpn file. If you check all elements then all the changes that were made in the meantime in the database will be deleted. In this case you would erase teacher Newton from the database.

Merely those elements that have been changed are displayed. No indication is given of the data that has been changed (time requests, codes, etc.).

Changes to the views in Untis or cover planning will not be transferred.

13.3.1 Merging timetables

Changes in the definition of lessons and the scheduling of lessons are displayed in two different dialogues. In the figure below you can see that there has been only one change (L-No. 96) in the database and a few changes in the .gpn file. The columns "Classes", "Teachers" and "Subjects" refer only to the definition in the .gpn file.

II M	Merge data / Lesson ×										
Lessons Select modified elements Only .gpn changes All None											
Apply	L-No.	Class(es)	Teachers	Subjects	In gpn	In DB	User				
	6	2a,2b,3a	Callas	CH		\checkmark					
	55	2b	Rub	СН							
	62	3a	Cer	DE							
	63	1a	Cer	BI							
	64	1b	Cer	BI							
	65	2a	Cer	BI							
	66	2b	Cer	BI							
	67	3a	Cer	BI							
	90	2a	New	МА							
						М	erge sel	ected elements]		

If there have been changes in the timetable they are displayed in a separate dialogue.

П. М	lerge da	ta / Lesson							×
Lesso	ns / Sch	eduling	Select	modified ele nly .gpn cha	anges	All	1	lone	
Apply	L-No.	Class(es)	Teachers	Subjects	Scheduling 🚽	ln gpn	In DB	User	
	90	2a	New	MA	Tu-2,Th-3,Fr-5			Administrator	
	66	2b	Cer	BI					
	55	2b	Rub	CH		\checkmark			
	62	3a	Cer	EN					
	20	4	Hugo	HI					
	37	2b	Callas	MU					
	65	2a	Cer	BI					
	60	2a	Cer	EN					
	67	3a	Cer	BI					
	61	4	Cer	EN					
	63	1a	Cer	BI		\checkmark			
							Men	ge selected eleme	ents

As you can see in the figure, the scheduling of one lesson has been changed in the database (No. 90). In the .gpn file, however, a few lessons have been changed.

The elements indicated in the grid in the "schedule" column refer to scheduling in the .gpn file.

13.3.2 Merging cover planning data

All changes that have been made in cover planning can be transferred only as a whole set of data - or not at all. The same applies for changes that have been made via "Settings | Calendar".

13.3.3 Changing terms

If you create, change or delete terms in either the .gpn file or the database, the data cannot be merged. Make sure that you have created any new term before you start the export to the .gpn file.

Index

- E -

exclusive access to the database 42

- | -

Internet 6 Access 6 'Active users' dialogue 40 Automatic login 73 Backing up versions 78 backup 78 Backups 67 Changing passwords 25 83 Changing terms Changing the same data simultaneously 41 Clashes with external elements 52 Cover planning 62 Cover planning across departments 62 Cover planning and timetable planning 62 Creating a new school 21 21, 74 Creating a new school year Creating external elements 47 Creating users 37 Data consistency 42 Data security 65 Database and .gpn file 78 Database reorganisation 6 **Deleting messages** 71 Edit 27 Edit views 27 Export data to a .gpn file 78 File | Export the data to a .gpn file 78 Installation 7 Installation of Untis application 7

- L -

Levels of rights 27 Limitations to school, school year... 36 logging in 21 Logging out other users 40 Login dialogue 21

- M -

Marking views "Public" 45 83 Merging cover planning data Merging data from .gpn files 79 Merging timetables 81 Message system 68 Microsoft Access database 8 MS SQL 6 MS SQL database 15 Multi-client capability 6 My SQL database 75 MySQL 6 75 MySQL for Linux MySQL for Windows 75

- N -

No rights 27

- 0 -

ODBC 8 Operation via the Internet 6

- P -

possibilities to transfer data 78 Private / public views 43 Protection against unauthorised access 65

- R -

Read only 27 Rights 32

- S -

Saving to .gpn files46Sending messages68Shared resources47Simultaneous login75Support77

- T -

Technical background6The login dialogue21Transfer of .gpn files into the database78

- U -

Untis in info mode 72 user "Administrator" 24 User administration 24 user group 24 User groups 24 User groups and user rights 27

- V -

Variable name of the ODBC connection 75

- W -

Window arrangement72work offline79Working simultaneously41Working with departments58